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THE COMMISSION MANDATE
THE MANDATE OF THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION

The Indian Claims Commission (ICC) was created as a joint initiative after
years of discussion between FirstNationsand the Governmentof Canadaabout
how the widely criticized process for dealing with Indian land claims in
Canada might be improved. It was established by an Order in Council dated
July 15, 1991, appointing Harry S. LaForme, former commissioner of the
Indian Commission of Ontario, as Chief Commissioner, and became fully
operative with the appointment of six Commissioners in July 1992.

Its mandate to conduct inquiries under the Inquiries Act is set out in a
commission issued under the Great Seal of Canada, which states:

... that our Commissioners on the basis of Canada's Specific
Claims Policy ... by considering only those matters atissue when
the disputewas initially submitted tothe Commission, inquireinto
and reportupon:

(a) whether aclaimant has avalid claim for negotiation under
the Policy where that claim has already been rejected by the
M inister; and

(b) which compensation criteria apply in negotiation of a
settlement, where a claimant disagrees with the Minister's
determination of the applicable criteria.

Thus, attherequest of aFirst Nation, the |CC can conduct an inquiry into
a rejected specific claim. (The government differentiates between
"comprehensive" and "specific" claims. Theformer areclaimswhereno treaty
exists between Indians and the federal government. T he latter are claims for
breach of treaty obligations, orwhere alawful obligation of Canada's has been
otherwise unfulfilled, such as breach of an agreement or the Indian Act, and
includes claims of fraud. This artificial distinction, which was apparently
created for institutional convenience, has led to difficulties and has been
modified to som e extent.)

AlthoughtheCommission has no pow er to accept or force acceptance of
a claim rejected by the government, it has the power to review the claim and
the reasonsfor itsrejection thoroughly with the claimant and the government.
The InquiriesActgivesthe Commission wide powersto conduct such aninquiry,
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to gather information, and even to subpoena evidence if necessary. If, at the
end of aninquiry, the Commission sees fitto do so, it may recommend to the
M inister of Indian Affairsand Northern Development thataclaim be accepted.
The Commission's mandate is actually threefold. In addition to
conductinginquiriesintorejectedclaimsandintodisputesover the application
of compensation criteria, the Commission is authorized to provide mediation
services at the request of the parties to a specific claim to assist them in
reaching an agreement. The proceeding reported on here began as an inquiry,
but it wasthe Commission's mediation function that led to its disposition.

PLANNING CONFERENCES

The Commissioners' terms of reference give them broad authority to choose
how they proceed. They may "adopt such methods ... as they may consider
expedient for the conduct of theinquiry.” In choosing procedures, they have
adopted a policy of flexibility and informality, and have sought to have the
parties involved as much as is practicable in planning the inquiries.

To this end, the planning conference was devised. It is a meeting
convened by Commission staff as soon as possible after an inquiry begins.
Representatives of the parties, who usually include legal counsel, meet
informally with representatives of the Commission to review and discuss the
claim, identify the issues it raises, and plan thelnquiry on acooperative basis.

Thisprocedureistypical of mediation, and planning conferences are thus
a form of mediation. They have been welcomed by both claimants and the
government. The Commission's experience to date is that they can be very
fruitful. Misunderstandings can be cleared up. Failures of communication -
frequently the cause of misunderstandings - can be rectified. The parties are
given an opportunity, frequently for the first time, to discussthe claim face to
face. The partiesthemselvesareable toreview their position inthelight of new
or previously unrevealed facts and the constantly developing law.

The planning conference is sometimes an ongoing process. In some
Inquiriesthere have been as many as four or five meetings. Even if they do not
lead to a resolution of the claim and a further, sometimes lengthy, inquiry
process is necessary, the conferences clarify issues to make that process more
convenient, expeditious, and effective. Planning conferences have led to the
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acceptanceof a previously rejected claim; totherevelation that aclaim thought
to have been rejected had, in fact, been accepted; to the reopening of
negotiationson aclaimon whichthegovernment had closed itsfile; and to the
reconsideration of a previously rejected claim.



THE CLAIM
A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE CLAIM

The Micmacs of Gesgapegiag have claimed Horse Island, located close by
their reserve, since non-Indians began settling the area. The modern history of
the claim begins in 1986, and the Indian Claims Commission first became
involved early in 1993. Because the government agreed to consider the claim
on its meritsas aresult of the first planning conference, the Commission made
no findings in this Inquiry. This summary is based on the statement of
historical research filed by the claimant in the specific claims process (see
Appendix A).

Horse Island lies at the mouth of the Cascapedia River, which flows
south through Quebec's Gaspé Peninsula into the Baie des Chaleurs. For over
two centuries, the M icmacs of Gesgapegiag have claimed it, without success,
astheirown. The500-acre island isabout threemileslong and one-and-a-half
mileswide and is located approximately one milefrom the mouth of theriver.
Now covered with scrub, itwasonceheavily forested. Poplar, cedar, pine, and
particularly maple, described as late as 1896 as a "magnificent maple sugar
bush,” grew there in apparent abundance.

TheBand'sclaim toow nershipisbased on traditional usage: in thew ords
of one of its many petitions to governmental officials and others, it is "our
ancestral heritage."” A ncestors of the present claimants lived around the Baie
des Chaleurs before the arrival of Europeans. In the late 18th century, Indian
claimswere asserted to hunting and fishing rights on the Cascapedia River and
to exclusive occupation of its banks. By at least 1784, Micmac families had
begun to establish permanent settlements on the Cascapedia River. Over the
years their numbers increased. (A census taken in 1825 showed that 112
Micmacswere livingin Gesgapegiag Indian Reserve.)

From an early date, these people began producing maple sugar on H orse
I'sland, ultim ately establishingasmany as14 camps for this purpose. T he "juice
of the maple"” became an important source of income. In a petition sent on
behalf of the Micmacs residing in Restigouche and Cascapediato Governor
General Lord Aylmer in 1834 to protest the cutting of "acres of maple trees"

Formerly known as the Maria Indian Band
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by whites on Horse and other islands, this industry and its importance were
vividly described:

The annual harvest of the sugar maple on the said islands produces
thousands of pounds of sugar which enables the said tribe to
procure, each spring, articles essential for its plantations and other
necessities; with the sale of this sugar to the whites who, in
Restigouche, do not exploit thisindustry.

The petition went on to say that if the sugar industry was wiped out it
"would force most of the families of the tribe to live [a] miserable existence a
good part of the year."

This petition reflected an earlier letter, sent in 1833 by the missionary
working at Maria and Gesgapegiag Mission, to the Archbishop of Quebec
concerningthe depredationsto theindustry caused by "strangers" cutting down
trees. Theisland was also ideally situated for intercepting salmon and sea trout
going up the river to spawn.

Apparently attracted by these resources, by the turn of the century an
ever- increasing number of non-Indian settlers began to request title to land
along the shores of the Baie des Chaleurs. Land title in the Gaspé was
haphazard and confused,and in 1819 thegovernmentof Low er Canadacreated
the Gaspé Land Commission with a mandate to regularize the system of land
tenure and to ensure that settlers received clear title to the land. Claimsin the
Baie des Chaleurs area began to be filed in 1820. In that year, one A zariah
Pritchard requested title to some 300 acres of the northern partof Horse Island,
about half theisland. Five years later, the Land Commission granted him title.
W hether the Micmacs settled along the Cascapedia were aware of the Land
Commission's activities is unknown. Given their numerous petitions and
entreatiesfor confirmation of their entittement by way of letterspatent or a title
deed,itisunlikely thatthey would have sat idly by and watched theloss of the
lands they claimed. Itis clear, however, that they gave no consent to grantsto
w hite settlers.

In 1830 the Micmacs of Gesgapegiag submitted the first of many
petitions and entreaties to the Governor of Lower Canada and othersasserting
theirrighttoownershipof Horselsland andrequesting confirmation of it. Lord
Aylmer's secretary responded to the first of these petitions on the Governor's
behalf:
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... | am desired to request that you will assure them that he would
be sorry to deprive them of any advantage they have hitherto
derived from the fisheries and juice of the maple on the islands
alluded to in their Petition.

Youwill also please inform them that his Lordshipis not aw are of
the existence of any ground for their apprehension of their being
deprived of these advantages, and that he will always be disposed
to receive favourably any representation connected with their
welfare ...

In 1833 a second petition was submitted requesting a title deed to the
islands in the Restigouche and Cascapedia Rivers. In the same year, Father
L ouis-Stanislas M alo, the missionary at the M aria mission, w rote a letter (to
which we have already referred) to the Archbishop of Quebec requesting his
intervention on the Micmacs' behalf:

If the limitsof thisletter permit, | again seek your solicitude to call
upon hisExcellency concerning certain islands on the Restigouche
and Cascapedia rivers the exclusive use of which the present
governor has granted to the savages in a letter which | have in
hand;andw hich certainstrangershavedeteriorated by establishing
themselves there and cutting maple trees; the sugar which the
savages tap isthe principal, and | dare say, the only resource they
have each spring on which to survive and that can be used to
procure something to plant ...

In August 1834, athird petitionw assentto Lord Aylmer on behalf of the
M icmacs residing in Restigouche and Cascapedia. It requests a title deed in
order to prevent any further destruction of the sugar maple on the island. It
refers to the letter from Lord Aylmer's secretary, and again stresses the
importance of the maple sugar industry for the M icmacs:

In the final analysis, the tribe does not wish to inconvenience your
Excellency by requestingnew privilegesor favors, butrequestonly
a title deed which would put into effect Y our wishes and orders
expressed inthe above mentioned letter ...

In spiteof these requests, affirmations, and protests, William M cD onald,
acrown lands agent, received ordersin 1837 to sell the southern part of Horse
Island at publicauction. Father M alo, apparently unaw are that the northern half
had been sold, wrote another letter on behalf of the M icmacs, this time to the



Micmacs of Gesgapegiag Report 7

Commissioner of Crown L ands, John Davidson, urgently requesting him to
intervene in the sale of the island. The call went unheeded and the land
(comprising the southern half) was sold.

Again the Micmacs of Gesgapegiag petitioned. In 1846 they sent a
vehement grievance over the sale of their ancestral lands to strangersto the
Commissioner of Crown Lands, Denis-Benjamin Papineau, claiming they had
never consented to the sale of the island. It affirms:

That we consider our rights and privileges to the said Island as
derived from our forefathers, in time immemorial, should be
preferable to those who have come in latterly, intruding upon our
ancient inheritance; destroying our sugaries; and depriving us of
maplejuicewhich bounteous nature had bestowed upon us for our
maintenance.

That your Petitioners who have been brought up in the
Wilderness and cherished in the bosom of innocence, knew not
how to take any precaution against those intruders at the time of
the distributing of those lands, but depended principally upon our
faithful guardian the Government, to defend our sacred rights, and
protect us as British subjects, in the enjoyment of those privileges
w hich nature had bestowed on us.

Papineau met with the M icmacs and reportedly expressed his anger that
the island had been sold, but said that he could do nothing about it. The
petition was, how ever, forwarded to the Governor General, whose response
was as follows:

[he] regrets that the island in question should have been sold, but
he has not the power to cause a restitution, as it appears, upon
enquiry that the sale has been regular and legal.

In the 50 yearsfollowing this dismissal, non-Indian settlerscontinued to
acquire grants for lots on Horse Island. Throughout that time, the M icmacs of
Gesgapegiag maintained that they had been in possession and occupancy of
Horse Island since time immemorial, and by virtue of the Royal Proclamation of
1768.

In 1896 the Reverend J. Gagné, missionary and agent working in M aria,
sent aletter to Indian A ffairs. It told the story of asettler who had been cutting
down timber on Horse Island 40 years before and had been ordered to stop by
the Chief at that time. According to the letter, a tattered patent was produced
as proof of Micmac ownership of the land, and the man ceased his lumbering.
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This patent had been given to the constituency's M ember of Parliament to be
replaced.Howev er, the new patent was neverreceived and the old patentnever
returned.

N o meaningful response was ever madeto the Micmacs repeated claims
to exclusive use and occupation of Horse Island. The intrusion of settlers
continued unabated, and the sugar industry was completely destroyed.

THE CLAIM IN THE SPECIFIC CLAIMS PROCESS

Although the claim was not actively pursued after the Governor's expression
of regret, it was never abandoned. In April 1986 the Micmacs of Gesgapegiag
submitted a claim to Specific Claims East/Central Branch of the Office of
N ative Claims, Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development
(DIAND), regarding Horse Island. The claim again asserted that the claimant
First Nation continued to hold alegal interestin the island based on occu pation
and use of the land since time immemorial. Breach of the Crown's fiduciary
obligationto the First Nation was alleged on the grounds of the land grants and
the eventual alienation of the entire island.

The Micmacs of Gasgapegiag thereforeclaimed for damagesincurred as
aresult of the breach, for the loss of use and enjoyment of the island, and the
loss of the substantial economic benefits derived from the maple sugar and
fishing industries.

A year and a half after the claim w as submitted, it was rejected as not
falling within the specific claims policy which barred pre-Confederation
claims. Outstanding Business, A Native Claims Policy, the pamphlet issued by D IAND
in 1982 as Canada's official guide to specific claims policy, specified:

No claim shall be entertained based on events prior to 1867 unless
the federal government specifically assumed responsibility
therefor.

On its face, the claim arose before Confederation in 1867. In a letter
dated October 7, 1988, to the then Chief of the Micmacs of Gesgapegiag,
DouglasM artin, arepresentative of Specific ClaimsEast/Central referredtothe
pre-Confederation bar and placed on the Band the onus of demonstrating that
the federal government had assumed responsibility. T he letter went on to say:
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In our view, this responsibility has not been clearly established.
Given the basic weakness of the claim | would suggest that your
band council carefully review the report and documentation w ith
your advisors, and decide whether you agree with me that the
claim does not fit within the limits of the specific claims policy if
you agree that the claim isnot one which can be dealt with under
our policy, I recommend that we suspend the claim from any
further consideration.

N o explanationwasgiven astowhy the onusfell ontheBand. Given that
the government was probably in a better position than the Band to establish
whether there had been an assumption of responsibility for the claim, laying it
on the Band seem s questionable. The result was, however, that the Micmacs
of Gesgapegiag hadreached adead end. No further attempt to pursue the claim
through the Specific Claims Process is recorded.

However, in April 1991, five years after the claim was originally
submitted, Canada changed its specific claims policy by removing the pre-
Confederation exclusion. In its pamphlet Federal Policy for the Settlement of Native
Claims (published by DIAND in 1993), thegovernment referred to the change,
stating:

The 1982 guideline restricting acceptance for negotiation of pre-
confederation claims was revoked ... as with all other specific
claims pre-Confederation claims must still demonstrate a lawful
obligation of the government.

Thischange in policy led to some confusion. It appears that on January
13, 1993, Specific Claims East/Central advised Chief M artin that the federal
government would be willing to consider the Horse Island claim once again.
How ever, this was understood to be confined to the so-called fast-track
procedure for claims having a value of less than $500,000. On January 19,
1993, theBand turnedto the Indian Claims Commission to requestareview of
the rejection of its claim.

On June 30, 1993, Harry S. LaForme, then Chief Commissioner of the
Indian Claims Commission, informed the G esgapegiag First Nation Chief and
council that the ICC had agreed to conduct an Inquiry into the Horse Island
claim. However, because of impending elections at Gesgapegiag, official
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agreement for the ICC to proceed was put on hold until a new Chief was
elected.

The public announcement of the Commission'sinvolvement apparently
led to further discussions between Specific Claims East/Central's
representatives and the Band. In July the former informed the Band that, if it
wished the ICC to proceed with anlInquiry, the claim could not proceed in the
Specific Claims Process. Theletterinforming them of thisread: "W hena claim
iIsunder review by the ICC, the Specific Claims East/Central Directorate will
not pursue any aspect of the claim".

Faced with these alternatives, the Chief and council informed the
Commissionin early August thatthey wished the Inquiry to proceed. Withthe
ICC's formal involvement in the claim reconfirmed, the next step was for the
Commission to set up a planning conference.



THE COMMISSION'SINQUIRY INTO THE CLAIM

THE PLANNING CONFERENCE OF 23 SEPTEMBER 1993

A planning conference was held on September 23,1993, at the Commission's
Toronto office. Chief Bernard Jerome, Band administrator Clement Bernard,
and the Band's legal adviser met with legal counsel representing Canada,
Commission representatives conducted the meeting.

The major items for discussion w ere the basis for rejection of the claim
and significanceof the remov al of the pre-Confederation bar. If the bar was the
basis for the claim's rejection, did not the removal of the bar remove the
governments objection? W as there still some impediment to the claimsbeing
considered on its merits? If there was none, the claim could no longer be
treated as a rejected claim and the Commission would have no mandate to
proceed with it.

The discussion led to agreement that the claim could no longer be
regarded as rejected and could now be considered onits merits. In aletter sent
shortly thereafter to the Chief, the Specific Claims Directorate confirmed that
it would "resume our review of the Horse Island claim through the specific
claims process". The claim would not, however, go to the back of the line.
Counsel forthe Department of Justice had indicated atthe planning conference
that his review of the merit's of the claim should take no more than four to six
week s after he had received all the relevant material.

THE RESULT

We observed earlier that the planning conference process provides an
opportunity for clearing up misunderstandings and rectifying failures of
communication between aclaimant band and the government in the Specific
Claims Process. This case is an example. One hundred and sixty-three years
after the first petition to the Governor, and after eight fruitless petitions and
entreaties between 1830 and 1896 and an apparently failed attempt by way of
the Specific Claims Process, the claim of the Micmacs of Gesgapegiag w as
finally going to be considered on its merits.



RECOMMENDATION

The confusion over the lifting of the pre-Confederation bar might have been
avoided had communications between the First Nation and DIAND been
better. W e understand that, afterthe bar was lifted, DIAND referred claimsthat
had been rejected because of the bar back to the D epartment of Justice for
reconsideration. Y et, rejected claimants were not notified of thischange.

In order to avoid the confusion which occurred here, werecommend that the Department of
Indian Affairs and Northern Development write to all those whose daims were re ected

because of the pre-Confederation bar informing them that, if they wish their claim
reconsidered, they should notify the department.

FOR THE INDIAN CLAIMS COMMISSION

Dan Bellegard James Prentice, QC
Commissioner Commissioner

December 1994



APPENDIX A
HORSE ISLAND CLAIM
HISTORICAL AND LEGAL ANALYSIS

Presented to the M aria Band Council by
Fred Isaac and RitaD agenais
M arch 1986

INTRODUCTION

The Horse Island claim relates to an island situated approximately a mile and
a half from the mouth of the Grand Cascapedia River in the county of
Bonaventure. Itsofficial name today is Horse Island, although the M icmacs of
the region have historically referred to it asLong Island or Dale Island. The
Island's acreage is approximately 500 acres.

Historical literature reveal s that the M icmac Indians on the N orth Shore
of the Baie des Chaleurs occupied and used the Island for maple sugar
production. They had constructed fourteen sugar camps on the island; the
annual harvest produced thousands of pounds of maple sugar that was sold
commercially. This industry enabled the Indians to procure agricultural
supplies and other necessities of life.

The disputeover the ow nership of H orselsland beganw ith its settlement
by non-Indiansinthelate eighteenth century.In 1825, approximately 300 acres
on the north portion of thelsland w as adjudicated to A zariah Pritchard by the
Gaspé Land Commission. The southern portion remained Crown lands until
1837 when it was sold to non-Indians by the Commissioner of Crown L ands.
For a period of over one hundred years, the M icmacs claimed exclusive use
and enjoyment of Horse Island. They systematically petitioned various Crown
representatives, protesting against the encroachment by the whites. D espitethe
assurances from the Governor General that thelndians would not be deprived

This research paper was prepared for the Micmacs of Gesgapegiag, M aria Indian
Reserve, by Fred Isaac and RitaD agenaisin March 1986. The historical section of the
paper isreproduced hereby permission of theBand; the legal analysisis notincluded.
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of their rights on the island, the intrusion by local settlers continued unabated
and eventually, the sugar industry was completely destroyed.

Itisabundantly clear from the archival documentation that the Micmacs
never consented to the granting of land on the Island nor to its eventual sale.
On the contrary, they vehemently protested these transactions over averylong
period of time. Although the Micmacs were able to generate some sympathy
from government officials, no meaningful action w as ever taken. Instead, the
convergence of interest between the government and the prominent local
settlers conspired to entrench a status quo which, still today, cries out for
redress.

HISTORICAL ANALYSIS

Following the British conquest of New Francein 1760, the British established
a clear policy of recognizing and affirming the traditional land rights of the
Indian people. The first document implementing this policy isthe Articles of
Capitulation whichweredrawn up in1760by GovernorV audreuil at Montreal
and, for the most part, acceded to by the British commander in North America,
General Jeffrey Amherst. Article XL reads, in part:

The savages or Indian alliesof hismost Christian M ajesty, shall be
maintained in the Landsthey inhabit; if they choseto remain there,
they shall not be molested on any pretense whatsoever, for having
carried arms, and served his most Christian M ajesty they shall
have, asw ell asthe French, liberty of religion, and shall keep their
missionaries.

Thisdocument clearly applied to the then-existing colony of Quebec and
confirmed the Indians'sright to possess theirlands. Thereis some controversy,
among historians and legal experts as to whether this article actually
determined "territorial rights” of the Indians or simply assured them the right
to remain unmolested upon their lands. Itisclear, however, that this document
assured the Indians they would not be disturbed in the occupation and use of
their lands.

The second and most importantdocument isthe Royal Proclamation of
1763. This constitutional document established the government for the
territories acquired from France following the Treaty of Paris. It also defined
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the new British policy in respect to Indians and their lands. The Indian policy
was new inthesensethat it dealt with newly acquired territoriesand in that it
contained more definite provisions than had previously characterized British
policy on Indian affairs. Otherwise, the provisions of the Royal Proclamation
relativeto Indians are essentially a mere continuation of the policiesw hichthe
British had established in the 1750sin the New England colonies.

The Royal Proclamation recognized the rights to Indians throughout
British North Americato unceded lands in their possession. T he basic design
of the Proclamation, w asto create alarge area of land "reserved" to the I ndians
as their hunting grounds and to prohibit all private purchases of Indian lands
in thisterritory This"Indian Territory" was established outside the borders of
the colonies of Quebec, East and West Florida, and the territory of the
Hudson's Bay Company.

W ithin thecolonies, thebasic causes of frictionwiththelndianswere the
frequent instances of fraudulent purchases of Indian lands by whites. In
response to this, the Proclamation established a detailed procedure for the
purchase of Indian lands lying within the colonies. The Royal Proclamation
allowed for the purchase of Indian lands within the limits of a colonial
government, but the sale could only beinitiated by the governor, acting for the
purchaser, and at a public meeting of the Indians called for that purpose.
Paragraph 4 (a) of Part IV states:

And, whereasgreat Fraudsand Abuses havebeen committedinthe
purchasing Lands of the Indians to the great Prejudice of Our
Interests, and to the great Dissatisfaction of the said Indians; in
order therefore to prevent such Irregularities in the future, and to
the End that the Indians may be convinced of Our Justice, and
determined resolution to remove all reasonable Cause of
Discontent,

W e do ... strictly enjoin and require, that no private Person do
presume to take any Purchase from the said Indians of any Lands reserved to the
said Indians, within those Parts of Our Colonies where We have
thought proper to allow Settlement; but that if, at any Time, any of
the said Indians should be inclined to dispose of the said Lands, the same shall be
purchased only for Us, in Our Name, at some public Meeting or Assembly of the said
Indiansto be held for that Purpose by the Governor or Commander in Chief of Our
Coloniesrespectively, within which they shall lie... [Our em phasis]

This clause prohibited the direct purchase of Indian lands by private
interests; the land had to be first ceded by the Indians to the Crown for the
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purpose of sale. The informed consent of the Indian tribe had to be obtained
before any lands were sold. Horse Island, lying within the boundaries of the
colony of Quebec, wasundoubtedly subject to the protection of this provision.

This policy of protecting Indian lands within the colony of Quebec is
further reflected in the instructions sent to the governors of Quebec by the
Lords of Trade (Executive Council of the British Parliament). The first set of
Instructions sentto Governor Murray in 1763 specified:

61. And you areto inform yourself with the greatest Exactness of
the Number, Nature and Disposition of the several Bodies or
Tribes of Indians, of the manner of their lives, and the Rules and
Constitutions, by which they are governed or regulated. And Youare
upon no Account to molest or disturb themin the Possession of such Party of the said
Province, astheat present occupy or possess but to use the best meansY ou
can for conciliating their Affections, and uniting them to Our
Government, reporting to Us, by Our Commissioners for Trade
and Plantations, whatever Information you can collectwith respect
to these People, and the whole of your Proceedings with them.

W hereas W e have, by Our Proclamation dated the seventh
day of Octoberin the ThirdY ear of Our Reign, strictlyforbid, on the
pain of Our Displeasure, all Our Subject from making any Purchases or
Settlements whatever, or taking Possession of any of the Lands reserved to the
several Nationsof Indians, with whom W e areconnected, and who live
under our Protection, without Our especiad Leave for that Purpose first
obtained; It is Our express Will and Pleasure, that you take the most
effectual Care that Our Royal Directions herein be punctually
complied with, and that the Trade with such of the Indians as
depend upon your Government be carried on in the M anner and
under the Regulations prescribed in Our said Proclamation. [Our
emphasis]

The Instructions sent to Governor Carleton in 1775 reiterated the
importance of following the procedures set out in the Royal Proclamation relating
to the alienation of Indian lands:

41. That no private person, Society, Corporation or Colony be
capable of acquiring any Property in Lands belonging to the
Indians, either by purchase of or Grant, or Conveyance from the
said Indians, excepting only where the lands lye within the limits
of any Colony, the soil of which hasbeenvestedin proprietors, or
Corporations by Grants from the Crown, in which Cases such
Proprietaries or Corporations only shall be capable of acquiring
such property by purchase or Grant from the Indians.

43. That no purchases of Lands belonging to the Indians, w hether in the
Name and for the Use of the Crown, or in the Name and for the
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U se of the proprietaries of Colonies bemade but at some general Mesting,
at which the principal Chiefs of each Tribe, claiminga property, in suchLands, are
present ...

The 1760 Articlesof Capitulation, the Royal Proclamation of 1763, and
the instructionsto the Quebec governorsin 1763 and 1775 clearly reaffirm the
inherent land rights of the Indian people in Quebec. We will examine how
these land rights apply to the particular case of Horse Island.

In pre-contact times, the Micmacs of Restigouche occupied a large
territory on the south and north shores of Baie des Chaleurs in the provinces
of Quebec and New Brunswick, from Gaspé Bay to River Miramichi. The
principal summer encampments of the Restigouche band w ere on the south
shore of the Restigouche River,in New Brunswick,anditremained so until the
mid-eighteenth century. The GaspéPeninsula was used by theband as hunting
and fishing grounds.

In 1765, the extent of the territory claimed by the Restigouche Indians
w as described as follows by Chief Joseph Claude: "all therivers which are on
the north shore of thisriver belong to the said savages of Ristigouche as w ell
as those on the south shore in Miramichy and on the north shore of Baie des
Chaleurs from the Ristigouche to Cascapediaque which they have customarily
inhabited."

By 1784, 4 or 5Indianfamilieswere settledontheCascapediaRiver,one
family claiming the sole right of fishing in that river.?In 1811, more families
left the Ristigouche area to establish themselves at Cascapedia.* According to
an 1825 census, 112 Micmacs were residing on the Cascapedia River at that
time.*

In apetition datedJune27,1780, threeM icmac Chiefsfrom Restigouche
(Ganon, Ainagnich and Condo) claimed exclusive hunting and fishing rights
on the Restigouche and Cascapedia Rivers aswell as exclusive enjoyment of

Census of the Government of M ontreal and T hree Rivers, in Report of the Archivist of the
Province of Quebec, 1936-1937,116. Our translation.

Lieut. Gov. NicholasCox to Gov. Haldimand, August 16,1784, National Archives of
Canadal[hereinafter NA],M G 21, Add. M ss. 21,862, A 773, B202.

M gr J.-O. Plessis, Journal of the apostolic voyages ...in 1811 and 1812. Revue d'histoire
dela Gaspésie V1, no. 1, 41.

4 Census Return, September 30, 1825, NA, Census C-718, pp. 2254-55.



18 Indian Claims Commission

the lands situated along these rivers. This petition, addressed to Lieutenant
Governor Cox, states:

W hereas it was His Excellency pleasure the Governor in Quebec
to grant us the lands and River of Restigouche as our property for
usand our childrenforever... Thereforewe desireyour Excellency
would debar these inhabitant from hunting or fishing in the River
Restigouche, Novele, Caskepeja and Pagemkihe. Not to build
houses on either of these rivers without liberty granted by us...”

InMay of 1786, Lt. Governor Hopeinstructed D eputy Survey or G eneral
John Collins to proceed with the survey of the Baie des Chaleurs area. The
survey of the great Cascapedia River was ordered in response to arequest for
1000 acres of land on the river by Robin, Pipen, and Co. Hope's instructions
clearly stipulate that granting of this quantity of land should not in any way
interfere with the prior rights of the A cadians or Indians.®

In order to regularize land tenure in the Gaspé District, the government
of Lower Canadainstitutedthe GaspéLand Commissionin 1819. This board,
comprised of local citizens appointed as commissioners, was mandated to
receive and adjudicate all land claimsin the area. T he legislation authorizing
the Commission was adopted in 1819 and the claimsin the Baie des Chaleurs
areawere filed beginningin 1820. Inthepreamble of the statute itis stated that
the law ispassed "... with a view to secure the Inhabitants of the said District,
in the possession and enjoy ment of their landswhich in the most instance have,
from a wilderness been cleared and improved to an advanced state of
Agriculture, and whereas it is expedient to secure such persons in the
possession and enjoyment of their lands in the said Inferior District of Gaspé
ashavein good faith cleared and improved the same."

The purpose of the Commission wasto regularize the haphazard system
of land tenure in the Gaspé Peninsula and to ensure that the settlers received
clear title to the land. Up until thistime, land was acquired in a number of
ways: location tickets and grants, lots accorded to participantsingovernment-
sponsored settlement efforts and, most contentiously, by sim ple squatting.

Petition from three Chiefs of Restigouche to Lieut. Governor Cox,June 27,1780, NA ,
MG 21, Add. Mss. 21,877, A777, B217.

Instructions from Lt. Governor Hopeto John Collins, Deputy Surveyor General, M ay
31,1786, NA,RG 10,vol.329, pp.636-40. ThirdReport of the Bureau of Archivesfor the Province
of Ontario, 1905, 373-74.
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This latter process was a very common means of establishing claimsto
land during this period. All categories of land claimants were obliged to
present their claims to the Gaspé Land Commission: the Micmacs were
therefore forced to claim lands on their traditional territory alongside all the
other settlers in the area.

On July 29, 1820, aretired military officer residing in New Richmond,
Azariah Pritchard, formally laid claim to certain lands on Horse Island:

Claim by A zarish Pritchard senior and A zarish Pritchard junior of
New Richmond, for the following lots of land that isto say ... also
an Island commonly called Horse Island in the Great River
Cascapedia at about half L eague front the mouth of the said river
claimed by the Said A zariah Pritchard Senior. Opposition by Denis
Kafurgy of the Township of Hamilton for five lots of land on
Horse Island above mentioned consisting of fifty acres each lots
commencing at the south extremity and running from thence
Northward, the opposant having as he alleges cleared and made
great improvement thereupon.’

There is no documented evidenceto indicate that the M icmacs residing
at Cascapedia filed aclaim for Horse Island before the Com mission, nor that
they opposed the claim submitted by Pritchard. Only one opposition was
presented tothe commissioners by aDennis K afurgy who claimed five lotson
the southern part of the Island. This claim was not retained by the
Commission.®

The decision of the Gaspé Land Commission was rendered on March 21,
1825. Pritchard w as granted approximately 300 acres on the northern part of
Horselsland, comprising lots A toE. Thisland grant com prised more than half
the total territory of the Island. The southern part of Horse Island remained
Crown lands.

The Minutes of the adjudication hearing read as follow s:

The several lots of land above mentioned and described are
claimed by the said Azarish Pritchard, Esquire, and A zariah
Pritchard junior, having been duly published in the Canada G azette
... the Commissioners ... having received satisfactory proof of the

Gaspé Land Com mission - Claim by A zariah Pritchard, Sr, July 29, 1820, NA, RG 1,
L7, p.26.

GaspélLand Commission adjudicationto A zariahPritchard Sr,M arch 21,1825, NA,RG
1,L7.
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possession, occupation, and right of the said A zariah Pritchard, to
the said sev eral lots so by him claimed (thosefor which opposition
have been ruled always excepted) Do accordingly adjudge and
declare the claim ...tobegood and valid ... And withrespect to the
said lotsfor which opposition have been fyled none of the parties
having used due diligence to bring the same to a hearing, the
Commissioners are unable to determine to whom the said lots
should by right and in justice so pertain.®

The statute establishing the Gaspé Land Commission enabled persons
aggrieved by the decisions of the Commission to file an appeal. According to
Section X, such persons must give notice of appeal within 12 calendar months
following the decision and must produce a sum of money not exceeding thirty
pounds.

Itisuncertain whether the Micmacs settled on the Cascapediaw ereaw are
of the adjudication process or of the appeal mechanism. Official public
announcement of the claimsfiled before the Commission was given by way of
3 published notices in the Quebec Gazette Obviously, such information was not
readily accessible to the Indians.

Itisclear, however, that the Micmacs had not consented to the granting
of parcels of Horse Island to w hite settlers. During the years following the
adjudication by the Gaspé Land Commission, the Indians systematically
petitioned the government for exclusive possession of the Islands on the
Cascapedia.

Onesuch petition for possession of the islands on the Restigouche and
Cascapedia Riverswas sent to Lord Aylmer in 1830. The exact date of the
petition isnot known as the petitionitself hasnot been located. Itisreferredto,
however, in a letter from Lord Aylmer to the Micmacs dated November 20,
1830. This letter was drafted by J.B. Glegg, Secretary to Lord Aylmer, and
addressed to M . Thibaudeau, M ember of Parliament for Bonaventure county.
The important extract of this letter isreproduced below:

1830 Nov. 20 Responsefrom Lord Alymer to Micmacs petitionre.
possession of Islands on the Restigouche and Cascapedia Rivers.

Castle St. Louis, Quebec.
20 November 1830

° I bid.
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Sir:

| am commanded by his Excellency lord Alymer to
acknowledgetheReceipt ofthememorial delivered by youinto my
hands from the Micmacks Indians inhabiting lands in this
neighbourhood of Restigouche and New Richmond, and | am
desired to request you will assure themthat he would be sorry to deprive them
of any advantage they have hitherto derived fromthefisheries and juice of the maple
on the Ilands alluded to in their Petition.

You will also please to inform them that his lordship is not
aw are of the existence of any ground for their apprehension of their
being deprived of these advantages, and that he will be always
disposedtoreceiveanyrepresentationconnected with their w elfare
which they may conceive it necessary to address to him.? [Our
emphasis]

One year later, on November 24, 1831, the Secretary to Lord Aylmer
wrote to John Davidson, the Deputy Surveyor General for the Province of
Quebec. This letter was in reference to "an enclosed petition of some M icmac
Indians, praying for Letters Patent for certain Lands in their possession.” The
particular tribe is not named, nor are the lands in question specified. T he
Governor inquires as to the cause of the delay in forwarding this patent and
wishes to beinformed of any reason w hy the Indians should not be granted the
patent. (Our emphasis.)™*

Itisreasonable to assume that Lord Aylmer wasreferring to the petition
sentto him in 1830 by the Micmacs regarding the Islands on the Restigouche
and the Cascapedia Rivers. The tone of this letter certainly suggests that the
Governor was in favour of granting the letters patent to the Micmacs in
guestion.

There appears to be some confusion as to if and when this patent was
ever granted to the Micmacs. Three years later, the Micmacs sent another
petition to Lord Aylmer, requesting a title deed to the islands situated in the
Restigouche and Cascapedia Rivers.”” Some sixty years later, archival

1o Response from Lord Alymer to Micmacs' petition, November 20, 1830, Archives de

I'évéché de Gaspé, Tiroir no. 65, Restigouche. A copy of thisdocument was sent with
aletter of Louis-Stanislas M alo, February 9, 1837, Québec, M inistére de I'Energieet des
Ressources, dossier 24866/16.

Craig to Deputy Surveyor General, November 24,1831, Archivesnationalesdu Quebec
(hereinafter ANQ), John Davidson papers, E21, 359, IB12-4303B .

Petition to Lord Aylmer from the Micmac tribe established at Restigouche and
Cascapaedia, August 3,1834, NA,RG 10, vol. 88, pp. 35433-35.
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documentsindicate thatthe Micmacs were, indeed, in possession of apatent to
Horse Island.®

On December 2, 1833, the missionary working at the M aria mission,
Father M alo, wrote to the Archbishop of Quebec, Bishop Signay, requesting
his intervention in regards to the Micmac claims to the islands on the
Restigoucheand Cascapediarivers. Referringtoaletter inhispossession, M alo
states that the governor had granted exclusive use of these islands to the
Indians. In all probability, he isreferring to the letter written by Lord Aylmer
on November 20,1830. M alo's letter is particularly informative as it refers to
the importance of the maple sugar industry to the Micmac Indians. This letter
states in part:

If the limits of this letter permits, | again seek your solicitude to
call upon his Excellency concerning certain islands on the
Ristigouche and Cascapedia rivers to which the present governor
has granted exclusive useto the savagesin aletter which | havein
hand; and w hich certain strangers have deteriorated by establishing
themselves there and cutting maple trees; the sugar which the
savages tap is the principal, and | dare say, the only resource they
hlave ealc4h spring on w hich to survive and procure something to
plant ...

On August 3, 1834, ajoint petition was sent to Lord Aylmer from the
M icmacs residing in Restigouche and Cascapedia. This petition goes into
further detail about the economic benefits derived from the maple sugar
industry and once again makes reference to the fact that Lord Aylmer had
granted them exclusive possession of the islands on the two rivers. In this
petition, Horse Island isreferred to as Dale Island. In order to prevent further
destruction of the sugar mapleonthelsland, the Indiansrequest atitle deed be
granted to them. The petition isreproduced below :

That from time immemoria the said tribe possessed in the
Restigouche River, certain islands w hose plans are presently in the
possession of Joseph Hamel, surveyor, who prepared the survey
last November, and in the Cascapedia, anisland commonlyknownasDale

13 Rev. J. Gagné, priest and agent at M aria, to Reed, D eputy Supt. General of Indian
Affairs, April 16, 1896, NA, RG 10, vol.2844,filel173,288, partO, C-11285.
14 Louis-Stanislas M alo to Bishop Signay, December 2, 1833, Archives de l'archidiocese

de Gaspé, Tiroir no. 65, Ristigouche. Our translation.
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Island to which Your Excellence has confirmed exclusive enjoyment to the said tribe,
in aletter a copy of which isenclosed here-in. [Our em phasis]

The annual harvest of the sugar maple on the said islands
produces thousands of pounds of sugar, which enables the said
tribe to procure, each spring, articles essential for its plantations
and other necessities; with the sale of this sugar to the whiteswho,
in Restigouche, do not exploit this industry. That the said islands,
because of the spring waters which partially submerge them - at
times totally - are of little value to the w hites, apart from pastures
which are plentiful on the shores of the Restigouche River.

That in contravention of the wishes and orders of Your
Excellency, who does not wish to see the Indians of the said tribe
disturbed in the enjoyment of the sugar maple, have dared to cut
acres of maple trees and have refused to stop their enterprise,
thereby threatening to destroy the sugar industry whose loss ...
would force most of the families of the tribe to live miserable
existence a good part of the year, which would certainly be
contrary of the good intentions always shown by Your Excellency
to the said tribe.

In the final analysis, the tribe does not wish toinconvenience
Your Excellency by requesting new privileges or favors, but
request only atitle deed which would put into effect Your wishes
and orders expressed in the above-mentioned letter.

Therefore, Y our petitioners humbly request that Excellency
grants to the tribe a lease or any other title judged appropriate to
the said islands ...

Signed

Francois Condo

Louis Stanislas M alo M issionary
(?) Jacqulin

Joseph Labeauve

Antoine Evebun

M athieu Caplan

Etienne Dedum?®

In 1837, an agent of Crown lands, William M cD onald, received orders
to sell Horselsland at a public auction. Thisinformation is provided in a letter
dated February 9, 1837, and signed Father M alo. The letter was addressed to
John Davidson, who, by thistime, had been appointed Commissioner of Crown
Lands. Father M alo urgently requested the Commissioner of Crow n L ands to
intervene before the island w as sold. M alo was apparently unaw are that only
the southern part of the island, which had remained Crown land, was up for
sale.

Petition to Lord Aylmer from the Micmac tribe established at Restigouche and
Cascapaedia, August 3,1834, NA,RG 10, vol.88, pp. 35433-35.
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Obviously, thisurgent call wentunheeded, astheisland wasindeed sold
and John Davidson, wasin all likelihood the person to haveordered the sale in
the first place. Father M alo's letter refers to a letter from Lord Aylmer to the
M icmacs, assuring them that the government had no intention of selling or
granting any island in the province. This letter in its entirety is reproduced
below:

This part of the micmac tribe established in Cascapedia, New
Richmond, having learnt that William M cDonald, your agent of
Crown lands in the district of Gaspé intends to proceed
immediately after hisreturn from Quebec to the sale of an island
known as Horse shoe Island or Dale Island situated in the Grand
Cascapedia river, has requested and authorised me as their
missionary to represent their interests by writing you on his
subject. Accordingly, | take the liberty to respond to this petition
concerning this island as well as two other islands on the
Restigouche River presented by the deceased Dolard Thibaudeau
in November 1830 to Lord Aylmer which | have the honor of
including the reference herein. | regret that | am not in possession
of thispetition and cannot send you a copy, thereby saving you the
trouble of searching for it at the Castle.

... Based on the best information that | have been able to
obtain, the said islands could only be used to the said savages for
use of their sugar maples (apart from the small amount of hay
which we could produce): the overflow from the spring w aters
which submerges them each year, renders them uninhabitable.
Furthermore, the surrounding lands which are soon to be sold, the
said savages would not be able to obtain sugar maples elsew here
and will thereby be deprived of their principle resource w hich the
government of her M ajesty certainly does not have the intention of
taking away from them. In response to a petition posterior to the
one already referred to and requesting the granting of the said
islands, his Excellency has stated to the said savages that the
government of her M ajesty wasn't in the least deposed to alienate,
by fragmenting or granting any island in this province and will
reserveforitself exclusiveownership; afactwhich Mr. M cDonald,
your agent, is obviously not aware of Sir, in the event that you
judge appropriate to honor me with aresponse, please forgive me
for requesting that you must send it to me as soon as possible;
seeing that Mr. McDonald intents to sell the said island at the
public auction as soon as he returns from Quebec.

(signed) L ouis Stanislas Malo, priest'®

16 Louis-Stanislas M alo, priest of Carleton, to John D avidson, Commissioner of Crown

Lands, February 9, 1837, Québec, M inistére de I'Energie et des Ressources, dossier
24866/16. Our translation.
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In August of 1846, the Micmacs vehemently protested the sale of Horse
Island in a petition addressed to the then Commissioner of Crown L ands, D.B.
Papineau. This petition clearly indicates that the Indians had never consented
to the sale of the Island; they were simply ignorant of the procedures to taketo
prevent the distribution of their lands to w hite settlers. The petition reads:

To the Honorable D.B. Papineau,
Commissioner of Crown L ands for Canada E ast:

TheHumble petition of theundersigned Indiansof New Richmond
and Maria. Most respectfully therewith: That your petitioners
consider themselves aggrieved by reasons of L ong Island in the
river Grand Cascapedia being taken from us partly and now
parcelled out to persons w hose principles are to traffic, on lands,
to monopolize, if possible, thewhole country into their ow n hands.

That we consider our rights and privilegesto the said I sland,
as derived front our forefathers in time memorial, should be
preferableto those who have come in latterly, intruding upon our
ancient inheritance; destroying our sugaries; and depriving us of
the maple juicew hich bounteousnaturehad bestow ed uponfor our
maintenance.

That your Petitioners who have been brought up in the
wilderness, and cherished in the bosom of innocence, knew not
how to take any precaution against those intruders at the time of
the distributing of those lands; but depended principally upon our
faithful guardian the Government, to defend our sacred rights, and
protect us as British subjects, in the enjoyment of those privileges
which nature had bestow ed

That our petitioners earnestly beg their case to be taken into
your serious consideration; and to restore us the said I sland, now
erroneously called Horselsland which we and our ancestorsalways
held up fourteen sugar camps..."

On September 21, 1846, the Micmac chiefs of Restigouche met with
Commissioner Papineau to discuss the sale of Long Island. At that meeting,
Papineau stated that he was angry that the I sland had been sold, but wasunable
to remedy the situation as the sale took place prior to his being named
Commissioner of Crown L ands.*®

A cting on the request of the Indians, Colonel D.C. Napier, Department
of Indian Affairs, forwarded a copy of their August 1846 petition to the Office
of the Governor General. The Governor General responded that he "regretsthat

Petition no.173, August 4,1846, NA, RG 10, vol.2844,file173,2881 C-11285.
E.N.delLorimierto Colonel D.C.Napier,Indian A ffairs,M ontreal, Septem ber 21,1846,
NA, RG 10. vol. 2844, file 173,288, part O, C-11285.
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the Island in question should have been sold, but he hasnot the pow er to cause

a restitution, as it appears, upon enquiry that the sale has been regular and
legal.*

Thisofficial response from the government did not appease the M icmac
Indians, who continued to strongly protest the sale of Horse Island. Fifty years
after the Governor G eneral's statement, Father Gagne, amissionary and agent
working in M aria, wrote to the D eputy Superintendent General of Indian
Affairs on behalf of the M icmacs. This letter, dated April 16, 1896, indicates
thatthe M icmacsw ereinpossessionof a"patent” toLonglsland some40 years
previous. The exact nature of this instrument is not clear. It may have been,
indeed, aletters patent, or perhapsalocationticket. Wehavebeen unsuccessful
to date inlocating thisdocument. In any event, it appears that this " patent” was
handed over to a Member of Parliament who promised to have it replaced by
a new one, Father Gagne writes:

| have the honour to inform you of a matter of great importance to
the Micmacs of my agency The Chief, Louis Jerome, who is 57
years of age, tellsmethat formerly the Indiansowned anIslandin
the Great Cascapediacalled "Long Island.” Then one day about 40
years ago a man named David Tozer set to work to cut down the
timer on thisisland. He had already cut tw o acres when then chief
Jean Baptiste M artin, accompanied by the present chief, at that
time 17 years of age, went to find Tozer, who was still cutting, and
they ordered him to cease working on the island, which was the
property of the Indians. Jean Baptiste Martin, in order to proveto Tozer that
the Indians owned thisisland, showed the patent, and the |atter abandoned hiswork.
[Our emphasis.]

Atthispatentwas somewhat mutilated, itwas show n one day
to Mr. John Hamilton, of New Carlisle, then Member of
Parliament. Mr. Hamilton, on seeing this old paper all torn, said to
the chief Jean Baptiste M artin, "give methisold patent; | will send
itto the Government so that a new patent may come back to you";
but thisnew patent was never received.

About seven yearsafter hehad been madeto stop cutting and
leave the island, Tozer came back to it, burned the timber and
began to sow. The Indians, always timid and careless, did protest
more. Then w hen it was seen that T ozer was not molested, other
w hite men, attracted by the richness of the soil, came and made
clearingsthere. Thisislandis about 3 1\2 mileslong and measures
amileand ahalf atitsgreatest width. There areelm, poplar, cedar,
pine, and maple trees growing on it. | am informed that there is

19

Civil Secretary'sOfficetoLt. Colonel Napier, October 12,1846, NA,RG 10,vol.2844,
file173,288.
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some magnificent maple sugar bush there. Thisisland, whichison
threemilesof the Reserve, istoday of very great value on account
of itsprodigious fertility in hay and asitis crossed by the Baie des
Chaleurs Railway, near a station and the factory of John Nadeau.
If I had thisisland, itis very certain that| should notbe willing to
sell it for $25,000.

As| believethat my chief Louis Jerome, has given me atrue
account of the facts (he says that he can swear to it) | pray that you
will take this matter into your serious consideration and have
enquiries made into the smallest detail in order to find out when
and by whom thisisland was grantedtothe M icmacs of Maria; and
if itshould be discovered that my Indians are truly the ow ners of
thisisland, thatyou will take all necessary meansto put them again
i?w pogosession of the rich domain that has been snatched from
them.

The Deputy Superintendent simply replied that the Island had been sold
by the Department of Crown Lands many years ago and referred to the
Governor General's response of October 12, 1846. He also indicated that the
government was not disposed to listening to their claims, since the present
reserve of M aria constituted sufficient compensation for all their land claims:

I may add that the M icmac Indians of Restigouche have received
their present Reserve in the Township of Mann and Maria in
satisfaction of their claims to other lands and the Department
regrets that it can at this late date, reopen the question as to their
claims to further land.*

The government position that whatever impropriety had been involved
in the sale of Horse Island had been fully compensated by the establishment of
the Restigouche and M aria reserves is highly questionable. It must be
remembered that, long before the sale of Horse Island, the Micmacs had
claimed 530 acres of land at Indian Point on the Cascapedia River.? This area
w as later to be designated as reserve land. It is obvious that thisland was not
granted in order to compensate the Indians for the loss of the Island.

The Restigouche Micmacs were granted 9,600 acres of reserve land
pursuant to a statute passed in 1851 (14-15 Vict., c. 106). This law reflected a

2 Rev. J. Gagne to H. Reed, Deputy Superintendent of Indian A ffairs, Ottaw a, A pril 16,

1896, NA,RG 10, vol.2844,file173,288. partO, C-11285.

Deputy Superintendent General of Indian A ffairs, to Rev. J. Gagne, M aria, M ay 18,
1896, NA,RG 10, vol.2844,file173,288, partO, C-11285.

Notes of Alex M cNeil, surveyor, September 1, 1820, Archives de I'éveché de Gaspé,
Tiroir no. 65, Ristigouche.
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new general policy establishing Indian reservesthroughout Lower Canada. It
was, therefore, legislation of general application. The illegal sale of Horse
Island cannot be "compensated" for by a simple addition of land under
unrelated legislation of general application. In any event, the Micmacs would
certainly have had to give their explicit consent to such an arrangement. As
shall be discussed in Chapter |1, the sale of the island constituted an illegal act
which must be rectified on its own merits.?

CONCLUSION

There are a number of important archival documents, which have not as yet
been located. These include the M icmac petition sentto Lord Aylmer in 1830,
relating to the Islands on the Restigouche and Cascapedia Rivers. The land
patent referred to by Father Gagnein 1896 would also bevery useful. We have
attempted to trace John Hamilton's correspondence in this matter, but were
informed by the Quebec N ational Archivesthat most of thecorrespondence by
M embers of Parliament has been lost.

Based on the archival documentation available to us, several key
conclusions can be rendered in regards to the Horse Island claim. First of all,
there is no evidence whatsoever that the Micmacs, at any point in time, ever
ceded their rightsto the Island. T his cession would have had to be made to the
Crown at a special meeting of the Indians assembled for that purpose. T his
strict procedure was obligatory under the Royal Proclamation and the Royal
Instructions given to the Governor of Quebec.

It isalso abundantly clear that the M icmacs had never consented to the
land grants accorded by the Gaspé L and Commission and to the eventual sale
of therest of the Islandin 1837. All archival documentsclearly indicate that the
Indians were vehemently opposed to these transactions. For over a period of
one hundred years, the Micmacs systematically petitioned officials of the
Crown for the exclusive use and enjoyment of Horse Island. The persistence
of the Micmac protests must be strongly emphasized.

= Chapter Il of thisdocument included legal analysis, which is not reproduced in this
appendix.
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Another key elementisL ord Aylmer's letter dated N ovember 20, 1830,
in which he assuresthe Indians they would not be deprived of their use of the
maple trees on the island. T his letter is often referred to in later petitions and
correspondence as granting exclusive use of the island to the M icmacs.

It is also clear that a number of government officials questioned the
validity of the sale of Horse Island. When the Micmacs met with the
Commissioner of Crown L ands, D.B. Papineau, in 1846 to discuss the matter,
he stated that he was angry about the sale but could do nothing to remedy the
situation. Lord A ylmer responded that he also regretted the sale of the Island
but added that the sale had been "regular and legal." It is certainly possible that
all standard procedures had been respectedin regardsto the actual sale, but this
does not remedy the legal defect caused by the fact that the Indians had not
consented to the sale.

It appearsthat the sale of the southern portion of Horse Island had been
ordered by theCommissioner of Crown Lands, John Davidson. However, itis
clear that he did not have the legal authority to do so, as the M icmacs had not
ceded their rights to the Island. T he transaction w as therefore null and void, as
was the granting of the lands to A zariah Pritchard by the Gaspé Land
Commission in 1825.
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